FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2017 AUG -2 PM 1: 14

STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 48622-9-11

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES VORHIES,

Petitioner

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Wayne L. Williams, WSBA #4145 Attorney for Petitioner

Williams, Wyckoff & Ostrander, PLLC P O Box 316 Olympia, Washington 98507 (360) 528.4800

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

James Vorhies, Petitioner, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' Decision, dated July 5, 2017, designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The opinion of the Court of Appeals was filed on July 5, 2017. The Court of Appeals decision is a case of first impression. It considered RCW 41.26.470(9) which governs the grant of line-of-duty total disability benefits to members of the Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters Retirement System, Plan 2 (LEOFF 2). RCW 41.26.470(9) awards total disability benefits where a disabled member cannot "engage in substantial gainful activity." The Court of Appeals determined that considering whether a disabled LEOFF 2 member can actually obtain and maintain employment would improperly "import workers' compensation law into LEOFF." (Court of Appeals opinion, p. 13-1; Appendix A-13 through 17).

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-22.

¹ LEOFF Plan 2 covers those law enforcement officers and fire fighters employed after October 1, 1977. RCW 41.26.030(22).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. When making earning power determinations under RCW 41.26.470(9) is consideration of the ability to "obtain" employment as described in Leeper v. Department of Labor and Industries, 123 Wn.2d 803, 805-806, 872 P.2d 507 (1994), forbidden?
- 2. When making earning power determinations under RCW 41.26.470(9) is consideration of the ability to "maintain" employment, as described contained in <u>Fochtman v. Department of Labor and Industries</u>, 7 Wn.App 286, 298, 499 P.2d 255 (1972) forbidden?
- 3. Does a liberal construction of RCW 41.26.470(9)(b) authorize finding a LEOFF Plan 2 member capable of engaging in substantial gainful activity, even if the member cannot actually obtain or maintain gainful employment in the labor market?
- 4. Where chronic pain is the greatest limitation to a LEOFF 2 member's ability to engage in substantial gainful activity, is expert opinion, which specifically excludes consideration of pain, "substantial evidence" to support a conclusion that a member can

engage in substantial gainful activity pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(3)(e)?

5. In the absence of any proof of the existence of part time employment, is a conclusion that a member can engage in part-time employment supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record within the meaning of RCW 34.05.570(3)(e)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Vorhies was a full-time law enforcement officer for the City of Sequim. (Administrative Record (AR) 2, Finding of Fact (FOF) 1). As such, he was a LEOFF 2 member. (AR 2, FOF 1).

He suffered on-duty injuries and on February 1, 2011, applied to the Department of Retirement Systems (DRS) for disability retirement benefits. (AR 2, FOF 3). DRS accepted his claim and approved his eligibility for line-of-duty disability retirement benefits, retroactive to January 1, 2011. (AR 8, FOF 3). However, DRS denied his application for total line-of-duty disability benefits, pursuant to RCW 41.26.470(9). (AR 2, FOF 3). DRS administratively reviewed its denial of total line-of-duty disability benefits to Mr. Vorhies and on October 3, 2012, his application was denied. (AR 2, FOF 4). He filed a Notice of Appeal with DRS. (AR 2, FOF 5). After hearings, DRS

entered the February 5, 2015 Final Order, which is at issue here. (AR 1-49).

Mr. Vorhies appealed the DRS order to the Thurston County Superior Court and the Superior Court reversed the decision of DRS (CP 200-201). DRS appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1. This case is one of first impression, regarding the construction of RCW 41.26.470(9). It potentially affects every LEOFF 2 law enforcement officer and firefighter in the State of Washington. This is an issue of substantial public interest which should be determined by the Supreme Court. If the Court of Appeals' decision stands, there will inevitably be first responders who will be denied benefits even though they cannot obtain or maintain employment. Review should be accepted. RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 2. The Court of Appeals rejected consideration of whether a disabled LEOFF 2 member can <u>obtain</u> employment, in determining the degree of his or her loss of earning power. The Court rejected that consideration because it appears in <u>Leeper v. Department of Labor and Industries</u>, <u>supra</u>, which is a workers' compensation case. The Court of Appeals rejected the <u>Leeper</u>

analysis as precedent either directly or by analogy. Review should be accepted, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- 3. The Court of Appeals rejected consideration of whether a disabled law enforcement officer can <u>maintain</u> employment once hired, because that consideration was contained in <u>Fochtman v. Department of Labor and Industries</u>, <u>supra</u>, which is a workers' compensation case. The Court of Appeals rejected the <u>Fochtman</u> analysis as precedent either directly or by analogy. Review should be accepted, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).
- 4. The Court of Appeals did not apply liberal construction, to RCW 41.26.470(9), as is required by this Court's decision in <u>Bowen v. Statewide Employees Retirement System</u>, 72 Wn.2d 397, 433 P.2d 150 (1967). This presents an issue of substantial interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).
- 5. DRS makes Conclusions of Law about employability which ignore its own Findings of Fact. Are such conclusions supported by substantial evidence, pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(3)(e)? This is an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Summary of Argument

This is a case of first impression construing RCW 41.26.470(9). DRS and the Court of Appeals rejected any consideration of whether Mr. Vorhies could obtain or maintain employment, in determining "...whether Mr. Vorhies was able to engage in substantial gainful activity earning more than \$1,040.00 per month." RCW 41.26.470(9). Then,the Presiding Officer based the Final Order, denying benefits, upon the opinion of an expert who did not consider whether Mr. Vorhies could "obtain" employment; did not consider whether Mr. Vorhies could "maintain" employment; and rejected any consideration of Mr. Vorhies' pain.

DRS determined Mr. Vorhies could perform part-time employment in the absence of testimony that there were part-time iobs, in his labor market, that he could perform.

2. Argument

a. LEOFF 2 Disability is Measured by Earning Power

Most of our first responders, firefighters and law enforcement officers, are covered by the LEOFF Retirement System. Chapter 41.26 RCW. One of the stated purposes of Chapter 41.26 RCW is to ensure members are able "... to provide

for themselves and their dependents in case of disability" RCW 41.26.020.

Mr. Vorhies has been granted line-of-duty disability benefits by DRS. (AR 8). The only remaining question is whether he is totally disabled within the meaning of RCW 41.26.470(9)(b) which provides in relevant part:

A member is considered totally disabled if he or she is unable to perform any substantial gainful activity due to a physical or mental condition that may be expected to result in death or that has lasted or is expected to last at least twelve months. Substantial gainful activity is defined as average earnings in excess of eight hundred sixty dollars a month in 2006 adjusted annually as determined by the director based on federal social security disability standards.² (Emphasis supplied)

Obviously, "substantial gainful activity" is defined in terms of earnings. One must be employed to earn.

b. Pension Statutes Are Liberally Construed In Favor of Members

In cases involving pensions, doubt should be resolved in favor of the party for whose benefit the pension statute was

² The entire statute is attached as Appendix 2.

enacted. Bowen v. State Wide City Employees Retirement System, supra.³

In Morrison v. Department of Retirement Systems, 67 Wn.App. 419, 426, 835 P.2d 1044 (1992), the court found that "any ambiguities in the standard by which to determine disability should be construed in Morrison's favor given the remedial nature of pension statutes, which Washington Courts liberally construe in favor of the intended beneficiary." Morrison at 427.

RCW 41.26.470(9)(b) must be liberally construed.

DRS regulations implementing that statute must, likewise, be liberally construed.

c. DRS Regulations Define Employment Terms, Not Physical Limitations

WAC 415-104-482(1) sets forth the five requirements for a catastrophic disability allowance.⁴ The portion relevant to this case is WAC 415-104-482(1)(c) which provides:

(c) Your disability is so severe that you are unable to do your previous LEOFF eligible work, and considering your education, transferable skills, and work experience, you cannot engage

³ A similar rule applies in the workers' compensation context, where statutes are construed in favor of the claimant for whose benefit the act was passed. Gaines v. Department of Labor & Industries, 1 Wn.App. 547,463 P.2d 269 (1969); Kellum v. Department of Retirement Systems, 61 Wn.App. 288, 810 P.2d 523 (1991)

⁴ The entire WAC is attached as Appendix 3.

in any other kind of substantial gainful activity in the labor market; (Emphasis supplied).

WAC 415-04-482(13)(e) provides as follows:

(e) Substantial gainful activity means any activity that produces average earnings, as defined in (b) of this subsection, in excess of eight hundred sixty dollars a month in 2006, adjusted annually as determined by the department based on federal Social Security disability standards. Wages count toward earnings when they are earned, not when you receive them. Self-employment income counts when you receive it, not when you earn it. (Emphasis supplied).

The Final Order noted the close connection between two additional DRS rules and Department of Labor and Industries (DLI) rules as follows:

It is noted that two definitions, WAC 415-104-482(13)(c), 'labor market', and (13)(f), 'transferable skills', closely resemble definitions in chapter 296-19A WAC, which covers vecational rehabilitation services available through DLI, and could be derived from those workers' compensation regulations.

LEOFF	Workers' Compensation – Vocational Rehabilitation
WAC 415-104-	WAC 296-19A-010(4)
482(13)(c) (2009)	(2004)
(c) Labor market is	(4) What is an injured
the geographic area	worker's labor market?
within reasonable	Generally, the worker's
commuting distance	relevant labor market is
of where you were	the geographic area

last gainfully employed or where you currently live, whichever provides the greatest employment.

where the worker was last gainfully employed. The labor market must be within a reasonable commuting distance and opportunity for gainful be consistent with the industrially injured or ill worker's physical and mental capacities.

WAC 415-104-482(13)(f)

WAC 296-19A-010(7)

(f) Transferable skills are any combination of learned or demonstrated behavior, education, training, work traits, and skills that you can readily apply. They are skills that are interchangeable among different jobs and workplaces.

(7) What is a transferable skill? Transferable skills are any combination of learned or demonstrated behavior, education, training, work traits, and work-related skills that can be readily applied by the worker. They are skills that are interchangeable among different jobs and workplaces. Nonworkrelated talents or skills that are both demonstrated and applicable may also be considered.

(AR 29, COL 16, footnote 34)⁵

⁵ It is notable that Labor and Industries' definition of transferable skills specifically provides that "Nonwork-related talents or skills that are both demonstrated and applicable may also be considered." The LEOFF 2 rule does not contain this language. Ironically, the Final Order praises Ms. Berndt for "including skills acquired through activities other than paid employment" and criticizes Ms. Larson for apparently limiting her consideration to employment skills as required by the LEOFF 2 rule. (AR 46, Conclusion of Law (COL) 58)

All these rules make it obvious employment is not "gainful" unless you can obtain it. Therefore, the fundamental object of both the workers' compensation system and DRS' disability system is to provide total disability benefits to those who have lost earning power.

The DRS Presiding Officer concluded that, since RCW 41.26.170(a) did not tie LEOFF 2 disability benefits to eligibility for or receipt of workers' compensation benefits, DRS is forbidden to consider workers' compensation cases, even by analogy.⁹ (AR 28, COL 13 and 14).

d. Workers' Compensation Cases Can Provide Guidance Regarding Earning Power

In the workers' compensation context triers of fact frequently need to determine whether individuals are unable to

⁶ "Gainful" is defined as "Productive of (esp. financial) gain or profit; (of employment) paid, useful." 1 The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, 1051 (1993 ed.)

⁷ Hubbard v. Department of Labor and Industries, 140 Wn.2d 35, 992 P.2d 1002 (2000); Franks v. Department of Labor and Industries, 35 Wn.2d 763, 215 P.2d 416 (1950) RCW 41.26.

⁸ RCW 41.26.020 and RCW 41.26.470(9).

⁹ This position would require rejecting other rules, not mentioned in Chapter 41.26 RCW, such as proximate cause. See, <u>Shaw v. Department of Retirement Systems</u>, 193 Wn.App 122, 371 P.3d 106 (2016) where the Court rejected the Presiding Officer's determination that employment must be the sole cause of disability. The court relied on <u>Dillon v. Seattle Police Pension Bd</u>, 82 Wn.App 168, 172-173, 916 P.2d 956 (1996) which quoted <u>Dennis v. Department of Labor and Industries</u>, 109 Wn.2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).

perform any work at any gainful occupation." RCW 51.08.160. (Emphasis supplied).

Just like workers' compensation, WAC 415-104-482(1)(c) requires consideration of a disabled LEOFF 2 member's "transferable skills, and labor market" to determine whether the member can engage in gainful activity. WAC 415-104-482(13)(c) and (f).

In <u>Leeper v. Department of Labor and Industries</u>, supra, the Supreme Court said:

The opinion in *Graham* rests on an incorrect assumption: the general availability of light or sedentary jobs in the labor market implies a particular injured worker can obtain such a job. This assumption disregards the vocational evidence unique to an individual claimant. By equating the availability of general work with the ability to obtain it, the Court of Appeals in *Graham* presumes the very question the trier of fact must answer — can this claimant obtain work in the competitive labor market. Our cases require the trier of fact to judge in each case whether a particular individual is totally disabled. especially where medical evidence of the injured worker's ability to perform work may conflict with vocational evidence of the worker's inability to obtain work because of the workplace injury. The words 'or obtain' under these circumstances are not superfluous. 10 (First emphasis in original,

¹⁰ It is important to remember the labor market is competitive and disabled LEOFF members are competing for jobs with others who may not have the same physical or vocational limitations.

second emphasis supplied) <u>Leeper</u>, <u>supra</u>, page 818.

In Fochtman, supra, the court said:

We conclude that a prima facie case of total disability may be established by medical testimony as to severe limitations imposed on a claimant's ability to work coupled with lay testimony concerning his age, education, training and experience and the testimony of an employment or vocational expert as to whether he is able to maintain gainful employment on the labor market with a reasonable degree of continuity. (Emphasis supplied) Fochtman, supra, page 298.

LEOFF 2 "substantial gainful activity" is activity that produces average earnings, in excess of \$1,040.00 per month.

(AR 25, COL 8, Footnote 29). Only jobs which Mr. Vorhies can actually obtain and maintain are gainful and will produce earnings. However, the Presiding Officer and Court of Appeals rejected this well established body of workers' compensation law and determined that the ability to "obtain" and "perform" employment is meaningless. (AR 44, COL 55).

e. The Vocational Testimony Was Weighed Using An Erroneous Legal Interpretation

At the DRS hearing:

Both parties presented testimony of vocational experts, Karin Larson in support of Mr. Vorhies' application and Barbara Berndt in support of the

Department's position. Both acknowledged that this appeal was the first time they had worked with LEOFF disability benefits. (AR 16, FOF 58).

Ms. Larson testified Mr. Vorhies "could not be expected to <u>obtain</u> and <u>maintain</u> employment, either full-time or part-time, and thus could not earn pay of \$1040.00 per month or more." (Emphasis supplied). (AR 16, FOF 59).

Ms. Berndt testified that:

... Mr. Vorhies is physically able to work nearly fulltime in occupations with sedentary to light physical demands; jobs exist in his labor market at these physical demand levels and are generally available for someone willing to search for them; the types of jobs she identified would individually or in combination produce monthly earnings of at least \$1040... (AR 19, FOF 64).

Ms. Berndt testified:

Q: If Mr. Vorhies has the physical capacity to perform a job but does not have the transferable skills necessary to be hired or successful, in your opinion is he nonetheless able to engage in substantial gainful employment?

A: Yes. (Hearing Transcript p. 253, l. 21 to p. 254, l. 1).

Ms. Berndt also testified:

Q: If Mr. Vorhies can obtain a job, but because of his physical limitations or experience he wouldn't likely be successful in that job, would that change your opinion as to his ability to engage in it for LEOFF purposes?

A: No. (Hearing Transcript p. 261, I. 20-24).

The Presiding Officer did not find that Ms. Berndt was more credible than Ms. Larson. Rather, the Presiding Officer rejected Ms. Larson's opinion because Ms. Larson was: "confused as to the legal standard applicable." As the Final Order described it:

This confusion was most apparent where Ms. Larson opined on Mr. Vorhies' ability to be 'competitive' in his labor market, or to 'obtain' competitive employment. These are not express requirements for a catastrophic disability benefit, but appear to have been assumed or tacitly added by Ms. Larson to serve Mr. Vorhies' theory of the case. Under WAC 415-104-482(1)(c), the primary concern is with an applicant's ability to engage in income-producing activity: making that requirement so much more specific, tying it to an applicant's ability to obtain, or perform the essential functions of, a particular position or type of position, would alter the pertinent eligibility requirements as well as the burden of proof. The test does is not whether an applicant can obtain any specific kind of work, only whether he can engage in some kinds of work that are available in his labor market. (Emphasis supplied). (AR 45, COL 55).

Were it not for this fundamental mistaken view of the law, Ms. Larson's opinion would have been accepted and Ms.

Berndt's would have been rejected.

f. The Final Order's Conclusions of Law Are Not Supported By Substantial Evidence Nor Consistent With DRS Rules

"Substantial evidence" means evidence of a sufficient quantity to persuade fair-minded persons of the truth or correctness of the order. Tafoya v. Human Rights Commission, 177 Wn.App. 216, 311 P.3d 70 (2013); State Department of Ecology v. Douma, 147 Wn.App. 143, 193 P.3d 1102 (2008).

RCW 34.05.570(3) reads, in relevant portions, as follows:

- (3) Review of agency orders in adjudicative proceedings. The court shall grant relief from an agency order in an adjudicative proceeding only if it determines that
- (d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;
- (e) The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter;

(h) The order is inconsistent with a rule of the agency unless the agency explains the inconsistency by stating facts and reasons to demonstrate a rational basis for inconsistency;

The Presiding Officer has erroneously interpreted and applied the law. The Order is not supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole record before the court and is inconsistent with DRS' own rules.

g. The Final Order Finds Mr. Vorhies Has Constant Pain, But Does Not Take It Into Consideration

The Final Order finds that:

The effects of these conditions are chronic pain in Mr. Vorhies' neck and shoulder from narrowing of passages for nerves, and shoulder pain corresponding to disk disease at C5; and secondary effects of chronic pain, such as anxiety, depression and high blood pressure. Though Mr. Vorhies' experience of pain intensity varies, overall Dr. Crim believed Mr. Vorhies' pain is worse since January 2011; an MRI scan done in August 2012 showed continued worsening of the disk disease and arthritic conditions. Dr. Crim thought Mr. Vorhies' reports of pain credible, consistent with his own observations of Mr. Vorhies over time, in the clinic and around town, and with imaging studies and specialists' reports. (AR 12, FOF 41).

Pain and its secondary effects are Mr. Vorhies'

"disability." As the Final Order concludes:

The disability for WAC 415-104-482(1)(c) is the impairment in Mr. Vorhies' functioning as a result of the <u>pain</u> in his neck due to his cervical spine condition(s) and physical deconditioning from his limited activity. (Emphasis supplied). (AR 40, COL 41).

Ms. Berndt, whose employability opinions were adopted: "... did not give any independent consideration to the effects of Mr. Vorhies' reported pain." (AR 22, FOF 67). Ms. Berndt also testified that her opinion did not include any decision about what condition was limiting Mr. Vorhies' activity. (Hearing Transcript p. 239, I. 7-11).

The Court of Appeals notes, about Ms. Berndt, that "she explained pain was not quantifiable and that <u>an assessment of pain would determine whether a person could work.</u>" (Emphasis supplied). (Court of Appeals Dec p. 6). (Appendix 1, p. 6). Yet, in this case, Ms. Berndt did not assess or consider Mr. Vorhies' pain.

Imagine a member who was found to have lost his leg. If a vocational counselor offered opinions that he was employable, but failed to consider the loss of his leg. that opinion would be worthless. That is the situation, here. Ms. Berndt ignored pain which is the LEOFF disability.

h. There Is No Evidence There Are Part-Time Jobs Mr. Vorhies Can Perform

The Presiding Officer established that Mr. Vorhies only:

has the physical capacity to engage in income-producing activity for <u>less</u> than five hours

per day in a standard five-day work week, the most that would be required at the lowest wage. (Emphasis supplied). (AR 53, COL 53).

There was no finding Mr. Vorhies could work eight hours a day. Ms. Berndt was asked about all of the jobs she identified and she testified:

Q: How many of these jobs are part-time?

A: That information wasn't available.

Q: That would be true of all these categories you've listed, wouldn't that be correct?

A: It could be. It could be that they're all full-time as well. (Hearing Transcript Day 2, p. 235, t. 4-9).

The Court of Appeals found Ms. Berndt's testimony was that "the jobs she identified would produce monthly earnings of at least \$1,040 per month, at 15-30 work hours per week, depending on the rate of compensation" (Appendix 1, p.6). However, there is no evidence "15-30 hours a week" jobs exist.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals improperly rejected the analysis of Leeper and Fochtman. The legal standards adopted by the Presiding Officer are not consistent with RCW 41.26.470 and WAC 415-104-482, as liberally construed. Using the wrong legal

standard led the Presiding Officer to reject persuasive evidence and adopt speculation. DRS' Conclusions of Law are inconsistent with the Findings of Fact. Review should be accepted to reverse the errors discussed. We ask this Court to affirm the Superior Court Order which reversed of the DRS Final Order.