FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/21/2017 3:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94824-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES VORHIES,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Troy Klika, WSBA No. 43763 Assistant Attorney General Anne Hall, WSBA No. 27837 Senior Counsel 7141 Cleanwater Lane SW P.O. Box 40123 Tumwater, WA 98501 (360) 586-9037 OID No. 90127

## **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Washington's Rules of Appellate Procedure specify four criteria for permitting discretionary review of a Court of Appeals case under RAP 13.4(b): conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of law under the state or federal Constitution, or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Mr. Vorhies fails to meet any of these criteria. He fails to show any conflict with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals cases because for legal support he relies on workers' compensation cases from Labor & Industries law instead of support from cases and statutes from LEOFF 2 law. This Court has already rejected use of Labor & Industries law to support public pension benefits generally, and LEOFF 2 benefits specifically. Mr. Vorhies fails to raise a constitutional issue. He also fails to argue an issue of legitimate public interest, as his case is largely factual and will not have bearing on the public.

#### A. Mr. Vorhies' Petition Fails to Demonstrate an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Mr. Vorhies first claims his issues are matters of substantial public importance. As reflected in the Court of Appeals' decision, Mr. Vorhies' case is overwhelmingly fact-based. The facts of Mr. Vorhies' physical capabilities to work nearly full-time do not present an issue of public importance warranting a third level of appellate review.

The Court of Appeals applied straightforward statutory interpretation and held, in light of the facts, that the Department did not commit any error of law in concluding that Mr. Vorhies failed to meet his burden that he was catastrophically disabled. See *Vorhies*, 199 Wn. App.

at 546, 560, 562, 563, 565, 566; Slip Op. at 1, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20. Mr. Vorhies' petition fails to demonstrate that the statutory construction of LEOFF 2 disabilities law is one of substantial public interest that must be decided by this Court.

Mr. Vorhies broadly states that this case "potentially affects every LEOFF 2 law enforcement officer and firefighter in the State of Washington." Pet. for Rev. at 4. Mr. Vorhies never provides any details as to how LEOFF 2 members with their own disabilities will be affected by his case. This case is largely fact-based, and the findings are not even in dispute, as Mr. Vorhies assigned no error to any findings of fact in the Final Order, thereby becoming verities upon appeal. *Vorhies*, 199 Wn. App. at 556; Slip Op. at. 11. Catastrophic disability benefits, moreover, affect only the most severely injured members of LEOFF 2 where the injury arises in the course of duty, not LEOFF 2 members at large. There is no showing that the application of that statute to the facts of Mr. Vorhies' disability presents any type of important paradigm or guidance for other LEOFF 2 members.

Finally, Mr. Vorhies' attempts to rely on workers' compensation disability statutes and cases does not endow this case with any significant public importance. As explained next, there is no conflict or significant question of law presented by his attempt to rely on workers' compensation

disability concepts. Rather, the Court of Appeals relied on plain statutory language and implementing regulations that define "catastrophic disability" as a specific type of disability. The uncontested facts show that Mr. Vorhies does not demonstrate that he is catastrophically disabled.

#### B. The Workers' Compensation Cases Upon Which Mr. Vorhies Argues a Conflict Exists Do Not Govern This Case

Mr. Vorhies' primary reason for review claims that there is a conflict between workers' compensation cases and LEOFF 2 catastrophic disability cases. This claim provides no reason for review.

This Court has already decided that workers' compensation cases do not apply to LEOFF 2 disability cases, which means that there is no conflict of law question here. This Court has considered a legislative intent to remove law enforcement officers and firefighters from coverage under the workers' compensation act. *Taylor v. City of Redmond*, 89 Wn.2d 315, 318-20, 571 P.2d 1388 (1977) (finding the workers' compensation act's prohibition on negligence claims against an employer or fellow employee inapplicable to police and fire fighters). The Court limited the applicability of workers' compensation cases solely to issues involving workers' compensation. *Id.* As the Court in this case noted, "[t]he two statutory schemes [workers' compensation and the LEOFF public pension plan] maintain separate identities unless expressly stated in the statutes." *Vorhies*, 199 Wn. App. at 560; Slip Op. at 14 (citing *Taylor*, 89 Wn.2d at 318-20). In his petition for review, Mr. Vorhies fails to address *Taylor* and simply ignores its ruling. But that ruling is on point and confirms why the alleged conflict is illusory, and why arguments that borrow from workers' compensation law do not present issues of significant public importance.

In addition, this Court has recognized that decisions made by the Department of Labor & Industries pursuant to its workers' compensation law are limited "to the purview of Title 51 [the Industrial Insurance Act], and do not and cannot affect the common law or other statutory law . . . ." *Manor v. Nestle Food Co.*, 131 Wn.2d 439, 454, 932 P.2d 628 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1102 (1998). Mr. Vorhies' petition again fails to acknowledge this case law when he complains about the Final Order and the Court rejecting application of workers' compensation law to LEOFF 2 disability benefit analysis. Pet. for Rev. at 13.

In short, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Mr. Vorhies' reliance on Title 51 case law, labeling it as "not directly applicable" to Mr. Vorhies' case. In interpreting the requirements for catastrophic duty disability, the Court of Appeals declined to apply the *Leeper* and *Fochtman* cases to public pension cases because they interpret workers' compensation law, which is not at issue in this case. *Vorhies*, 199 Wn.

App. at 558-59; Slip Op. at 13-14 (discussing Leeper v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 123 Wn.2d 803, 872 P.2d 507 (1994) and Fochtman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 7 Wn. App. 286, 499 P.2d 255 (1972)). The Court of Appeals noted:

[W]orkers' compensation is a unique statutory scheme where the type of benefits differ and the eligibility for benefits is analyzed differently. LEOFF authorizes catastrophic disability retirement benefits on its own terms, independent of benefits available through workers' compensation.

*Id.* at 559-60; Slip Op. at 14.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the cases cited by Mr. Vorhies do not relate to or discuss LEOFF 2 catastrophic disability requirements. The *Leeper* decision analyzed a worker's inability to obtain employment under Labor & Industries' permanent and total disability standard. This standard is a unique form of benefit governed by Labor & Industries law. In *Fochtman*, the court held that "maintaining employment" was a standard for disability determinations under workers' compensation law. The *Fochtman* decision dealt only with Labor & Industries law. These cases are relevant only to Title 51 disability standards, not to LEOFF 2 disability standards.<sup>3</sup> Thus, the cases decided

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In contrast, the Legislature created a connection between LEOFF special death benefits and workers' compensation law, showing the Legislature knows how to create connections between workers' compensation and other areas of law when it wishes to do so. Specifically, the Legislature used language referencing Title 51 and the statute bases

by this Court and cited by Mr. Vorhies do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision, because the decisions to which Mr. Vorhies cited do not answer legal questions related to LEOFF 2 catastrophic disability. Mr. Vorhies fails to establish any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and cases decided by this Court as required by RAP 13.4(b).

In his attempt to incorporate Title 51 case law into this unique LEOFF 2 catastrophic disability benefit, Mr. Vorhies essentially argues that the LEOFF 2's catastrophic disability standard, "engage in any other substantial gainful activity," should be disregarded in favor of a new standard: "obtain" or "maintain" gainful employment. Pet. for Rev. at 6. The Court of Appeals rejected his argument regarding "obtain" as a new standard for LEOFF 2 catastrophic disability, noting that Mr. Vorhies provided "no substantive argument or authority to support this convention." *Vorhies*, 199 Wn. App. at 562; Slip Op. at 17. The reasons given are sound and do not warrant this Court's review: RCW 41.26.470(9) does not use the term "obtain." *See id.* Mr. Vorhies is simply

The determination of eligibility for the benefit shall be made consistent with Title 51 RCW by the department of labor and industries. The department of labor and industries shall notify the department of retirement systems by order under RCW 51.52.050.

Unlike employee death benefits, the Legislature has not established a clear connection between Title 51 and LEOFF 2 duty disability benefits. Without such a connection, LEOFF 2 disability law is not governed by Title 51.

the death benefits upon a Labor & Industries determination of eligibility. RCW 41.26.048 reads as follows:

advancing a lower legal standard that serves his own opinion regarding his capabilities, in order to avoid the fact that his own expert and personal physician agreed with the 2013 PCE results that demonstrate he can work nearly full time. AR 12 (FF 42).

Finally, Mr. Vorhies attempts to modify his previous arguments. Instead of arguing that substantial gainful activity means being able to "obtain or perform" or "obtain gainful employment," he argues that substantial gainful activity means to "maintain" employment. Pet. for Rev. at 2, 5, 6, 13-14. This is an attempt to import terminology used in *Fochtman*, a Labor & Industries case, however Mr. Vorhies has never raised or briefed this argument. An issue not previously briefed is deemed waived, and this Court does not consider it. RAP 2.5(a); *Kadoranian v. Bellingham Police Dep't*, 119 Wn.2d 178, 191, 829 P.2d 1061 (1992).

None of Mr. Vorhies' arguments that seek to borrow from workers' compensation law meet the standards of RAP 13.4(b).

## C. Mr. Vorhies' Remaining Argument Does Not Implicate the Standards of RAP 13.4(b)

Finally, Mr. Vorhies argues that the Presiding Officer did not properly consider in her analysis the pain that Mr. Vorhies suffers. Mr. Vorhies argues that the Department's Final Order should have considered pain and further argues that the Department's vocational expert should have considered pain when making her vocational analysis. Pet. for Rev. at 18. He does not argue that the Court of Appeals was wrong in its analysis of headache pain. Mr. Vorhies appears to be arguing about the substantial evidence supporting the findings in the Department's Final Order, without addressing RAP 13.4(b). This argument, however, has no merit.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that Mr. Vorhies did not assert headache pain as the basis for his LEOFF 2 duty disability, and therefore headache pain could not form the basis of his catastrophic disability claim. *Vorhies*, 199 Wn. App. at 563; Slip Op. at 18. In any event, Mr. Vorhies provided no evidence at the adjudicative hearing about how pain was limiting his ability to engage in substantial gainful activity. *See* AR 42, CL 47, and AR 44, CL 54. On this record, Mr. Vorhies' argument regarding pain does not present an issue that meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

#### V. CONCLUSION

This case involved straightforward application of a LEOFF 2 statute to facts unique to Mr. Vorhies—facts that Mr. Vorhies does not dispute. The Court of Appeals issued a logical, detailed opinion that is entirely consistent with this Court's precedent. This Court should deny review.